## JENNIFER LINTH AND THE ESTATE OF CAROLYN LINTH, THE EVELYN PLANT TESTAMENTARY TRUST; AND THE FRANKLIN & EVELYN PLANT GREEN POINT FOUNDATION,

Appellants,

۷.

CARL GAY AND ROBIN A. GAY, HUSBAND AND WIFE, AND THE MARITAL COMMUNITY COMPOSED THEREOF; et al.,

Respondents

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER				
II. COURT O	F APPEALS DECISION 1			
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW				
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
Α.	Mrs. Plant Retained Carl Gay to Create an Effective Estate Plan			
В.	The Problems Arising From the Amendment			
C.	The Problems Related to Taxes			
D.	The Problems Related to Gay's Conflict of Interest			
E.	Nature of the Dispute and Trial Court Rulings			
V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED				
A.	Members of the Washington State Bar Association, who Hold Themselves out to the Public as Exceptionally Experienced in the Field of Trusts and Estates Law, Are Expected to Competently Protect Their Testator Clients. When They do Not, the Public Interest – both to Members of the WSBA and to the People The Serve – is Negatively and Substantially Affected. The Court of Appeals Decision Warrants Review by This Court Because the			

Decision Undermines the Protection to Which Intended Beneficiaries are Entitled Under This

Carl Gay Did Not Know the Estate Tax

Consequences of the Estate Plan he

<u>Page</u>

1.

		ecommended for his Client, Mrs. /elyn Plant9		
	Ci At Th Po Gi	ne Court of Appeals Was So oncerned About Protecting an torney's Duty of Loyalty to Their Client nat It Lost Sight of the Fact That the pint in the Representation at Which ay Erred, Presented No Risk and No onflict With That Duty		
	Di At In Ci	ne Decision Incorrectly Focuses on the uty of Care Owed by Carl Gay as torney for the Trustee, Dan Doran, stead of the Duty of Care Owed by arl Gay as Attorney for the Trustor, rs. Plant		
В.	Decision	cision is in Conflict With Another of the Court of Appeals With Virtually Facts. RAP 13.4(2)15		
VI. CONCLUSION				
Appendix 1:	September 22, 2015 Decision, Court of Appeals, Division II			
Appendix 2:	<i>Moen v. Driscoll</i> , 122 Wn. App. 1038, 2004 WL 1658976, reported in 14 No. 4 Andrews' Prof. Liab. Litig. Rep. 9			

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s) Washington Cases			
In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Hall, 180 Wn.2d 821, 329 P.3d 870 (2014)8			
In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against McKean, 148 Wn.2d 849, 64 P.3d 1226 (2003)8			
<i>Moen v. Driscoll</i> , 122 Wash.App. 1038, 2004 WL 1658976 (Wn. App. Div. I July. 26, 2004), reported in 14 No. 4 Andrews' Prof. Liab. Litig. Rep. 916, 17			
<i>Parks v. Fink</i> , 173 Wn. App. 366, 293 P.3d 1275 (2013)10, 11, 13, 15			
<i>Trask v. Butler</i> , 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994)1, 13			
<b>Constitutional Provisions, Statutes and Court Rules</b>			
RAP 13.4(b)(2)2, 16			
RAP 13.4(b)(4)2, 9			
RPC 1.7			

#### **I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Appellants Jennifer Linth and the Estate of Carolyn Linth ("Linth") ask this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

## **II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Linth seeks review of the published portion of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division II, filed September 22, 2015 ("Decision"). A copy of the Decision is attached as Appendix 1. Linth did not move for reconsideration.

#### **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

This appeal involves the duty of an attorney to non-client beneficiaries under the multi-factor balancing test set forth by the Supreme Court in *Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d 835, 843, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994). Linth seeks review by the Supreme Court to clarify this duty under factual circumstances different than those presented in *Trask v. Butler*. Here, an attorney who held himself out to be exceptionally experienced in the field of trusts and estates, did not know the applicable law and failed to properly advise his client resulting in the complete failure of his client's estate plan. In addition, respondent attorney Carl Gay ("Gay") permitted his client, Mrs. Evelyn Plant, to fully and properly execute Amended Trust documents, that he prepared and that he held in his offices, *before they were complete*. Gay also failed to know and understand the estate tax consequences of the estate plan that he created for

Mrs. Plant. Gay's misfeasance resulted in the *complete failure* of Mrs. Plant's estate plan. After her death, litigation ensued due to the incomplete, *but fully executed*, Amended Trust document prepared by Gay. The trial court ruled incorrectly that Gay owed no duty to non-client intended beneficiaries of the fully executed Amended Trust that he created, and that failed, due solely to his breach of duties owed to his dient, Mrs. Plant.

The Decision involves an issue of substantial public interest for the members of the Washington State Bar and the people we serve that should be determined by the Supreme Court, as described more fully in §§ V. (A). See, RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Decision also conflicts with a decision of the Court of Appeals, as described more fully in § V.(B). See, RAP 13.4(b)(2).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Mrs. Plant Retained Carl Gay to Create an Effective Estate Plan.

It is no exaggeration to say the entire purpose of retaining a lawyer to create an estate plan is to insure that the plan is, in fact, put into effect so that your detailed plans are not frustrated. Reliance is placed on this principle by Washington citizens every day to order their affairs and provide for their loved ones.

Mrs. Plant thought she had done just that. Prior to her death, Mrs. Plant placed her "confidence in Carl Gay as her legal advisor for purposes of estate planning and other matters." (CP: 182). Mrs. Plant and her husband, who predeceased her by twenty years, had no children. However, no one disputes that Mrs. Plant had a long-standing and special relationship with Jennifer Linth and her entire family. (CP: 161-62). Jennifer cared for Mrs. Plant after her husband passed and no one disputes that Mrs. Plant intended to provide for Jennifer in her estate plan. (*See*, CP:915). Of relevance to this dispute are the two Trust documents that Gay prepared for Mrs. Plant. (CP:70-81 and CP:88-89).

In July 2000, Gay drafted the Original Trust for Mrs. Plant. (CP:70-81, 235). Mrs. Plant fully executed the Original Trust document, with Gay acting as notary, on July 22, 2000 (CP:70-81).<sup>1</sup> The Original Trust "generously" provided for both Jennifer Linth and her mother, Carolyn Linth (now deceased). (CP:236). In addition, the Original Trust provided a residuary gift of Mrs. Plant's stunning 60-acre Green Point property to a charitable organization entitled: Christa Ministries. (CP:70-81).

#### B. The Problems Arising From the Amendment.

On August 21, 2000, Gay was asked by Mr. Dan Doran – **not** by his client Mrs. Plant – to draft an Amendment to the Original Trust. (CP:236). *Without ever speaking with his client*, Gay drafted the requested Amendment to Mrs. Plant's Original July 22, 2000 fully executed Trust. (CP:230). According to Gay, the Amendment:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Remarkably, under the circumstances, Gay never actually spoke with his client, Mrs. Plant, again.

effectively removed Christa [Ministries] as a beneficiary of [Mrs. Plant's] Green Point residence and property and left that property to the North Olympic Land Trust, to be held as a wildlife refuge and ecological preserve, subject to Jenny's right to live in [Mrs. Plant's] residence for five years and then occupy the northeast corner of the property for the rest of her life.

(CP:83, 236).<sup>2</sup> As drafted by Gay, the Amendment required the

Trustee<sup>3</sup> to

... convey the Green Point residence, together with the sum of Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00), to a nonprofit corporation and tax-exempt private foundation to be created by trustee in accordance with the terms set forth on the document entitled "THE FRANKLIN AND EVELYN PLANT GREEN POINT FOUNDATIONS PLAN" (hereinafter "the Foundation plan"), a copy of which is attached hereto marked Exhibit 1 and by this reference incorporated herein as though set forth in full.

(CP88-89)(emphasis added).

Mrs. Plant signed the Amendment and her signature was notarized on August 22, 2000. (CP:88-91). Unfortunately for everyone, Mrs. Plant fully executed the Amendment **before "Exhibit 1" (i.e., the Foundation Plan) was ever attached.** According to Gay:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Jennifer Linth was given a life estate under *both* the Original Trust and the Amendment to the Trust. (CP:73-74, 89-90)

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 3}$  Trustee was Dan Doran, the same person who asked Gay to draft the Amendment. (CP:236)

without my knowledge, Dan Doran came to my office and requested my secretary to print a copy of the trust amendment I had drafted. I had not yet prepared a transmittal letter to Mrs. Plant **nor spoken with her** to determine whether the draft met with her approval nor had I discussed with her the specifics to the proposed new entity to be created for the Green Point Property.... Mr. Doran later delivered to me the signed original amendment...

(CP:230-231; 88-91) (emphasis added). In short, Gay drafted the Amendment without ever speaking with Mrs. Plant and then held the fully executed Amendment in his office, knowing that it was incomplete *and ineffective*. Gay declared:

Before certain *necessary* exhibits were added to the draft Amendment, it was picked up from my (Gay's) office by [Dan] Doran, presented to Evelyn [Plant], and signed.

(CP:236) (emphasis added). There is no dispute: "without the referenced attachment, the Amendment to the Trust was therefore incomplete and subject to challenge." (Respondent's Brief at p. 6).

### C. The Problems Related to Taxes.

To put it simply; Carl Gay did not realize or understand the estate tax consequences of the estate plan he created for Mrs. Plant. (CP: 200). Gifting real property (Green Point) to a private charitable foundation would have avoided significant estate taxes. However, where that gift of real property is subject to a life estate, as it was drafted by Carl Gay, the estate taxes are significantly higher. (CP:169-170, 191). In this case, it was questionable whether there would be enough cash in the estate to pay the enormous estate taxes

owing because of the way Gay drafted the Trust. Thus, whether Mrs. Plant left her Green Point property to Christa Ministries (as she originally intended - CP:74-77), or to the Green Point Foundation (as contemplated by the Amendment - CP:88-89), *both* are 501(c)(3) nonprofit corporations that have particular estate planning requirements; requirements that Gay clearly did not understand or contemplate when advising Mrs. Plant.

It was not until *after* Mrs. Plant died that Carl Gay realized the magnitude of his error and the effect it would have on Mrs. Plant's estate: "The IRS could force [the] sale of the Green Point property to pay taxes frustrating Mrs. Plant's estate plans." (CP:200).<sup>4</sup> So concerned was Gay that he retained an outside tax lawyer to provide an opinion on his drafting of the Trust documents.<sup>5</sup> The opinion was that the Trust documents drafted by Gay were defective *and* that Carl Gay had a conflict of interest in representing the personal representative, Dan Doran, precisely because the Trust documents were defective.<sup>6</sup> (See, §D, *infra*.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> There are additional problems for Mrs. Plant's estate due to Carl Gay's failure to draft the Trust without ambiguity in order that the estate taxes were paid from the Trust residue. None so glaring, however, as the failure of Gay to know about the significant estate tax consequences of the plan he created for Mrs. Plant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In his capacity as attorney for Dan Doran, the Trustee of the Trust that he defectively created, not in his capacity as attorney for Mrs. Plant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Linth attempted to obtain the entire opinion through discovery ("the Butler opinion"), but, the interrogatory was met with objection. What IS before the Court, however, is sufficient to raise an inference that Gay owed a duty of impartiality and loyalty to Mrs. Plant, and, after her death, to the beneficiaries of the Trust that he incompetently attempted to create for Mrs. Plant.

Carl Gay's failure to know and understand the estate tax consequences of the Trust documents he drafted for Mrs. Plant has caused controversy over the interpretation and enforceability of the Trust, as amended, and has frustrated Mrs. Plant's undisputed intentions as expressed to Carl Gay and as set forth in her estate planning documents.

### D. The Problems Related to Gay's Conflict of Interest.

Carl Gay has asserted that as of August 16, 2000, he became the lawyer for Dan Doran, the Trustee of the Trust that he drafted. (Respondent's Brief at p. 1). Of course, he was also the lawyer for Mrs. Plant at the same time. Upon her death, on January 1, 2001, Gay continued to owe a duty of impartiality and loyalty to Mrs. Plant related to the estate planning documents that he drafted for her. Gay had a patently clear concurrent conflict of interest by representing the Trustee of the defective Trust that he drafted for Mrs. Plant at the same time that the beneficiaries of that Trust (1) accused the Trustee of breach of fiduciary duties, and (2) accused Carl Gay of failing to draft the Trust to effectively transfer Mrs. Plant's assets in accordance with her intentions. RPC 1.7. Gay was specifically advised by the outside lawyer that he retained on behalf of the Trustee, that he had a conflict of interest. (CP: 138-141; 120, 121). Carl Gay owed a duty of impartiality and loyalty to Mrs. Plant before he ever undertook his representation of the Trustee. It was up to Carl Gay, as a lawyer licensed to practice law in the State of Washington, to either withdraw from representing the Trustee or to obtain a waiver from both the Trustee and the beneficiaries of the Trust he drafted for Mrs. Plant. RPC 1.7; see, *In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against McKean*, 148 Wn.2d 849, 64 P.3d 1226 (2003); *In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Hall*, 180 Wn.2d 821, 329 P.3d 870 (2014). Carl Gay did neither.

### E. Nature of the Dispute and Trial Court Rulings.

In her individual capacity as an intended beneficiary of the Trust that was negligently drafted by Gay, Linth filed a malpractice action against Gay. (CP:913-925). Gay moved for summary judgment asserting that he owed no duty to a non-client beneficiary. (CP:272-282, 266-271).<sup>7</sup> The trial court granted Gay's motion for summary judgment. (CP:22-24). This appeal timely followed. (CP:14-22).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Linth's Response (CP:238-260; 037-238); Gay's Reply (CP:025-34).

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- A. Members of the Washington State Bar Association, who Hold Themselves out to the Public as Exceptionally Experienced in the Field of Trusts and Estates Law, Are Expected to Competently Protect Their Testator Clients. When They do Not, the Public Interest – both to Members of the WSBA and to the People The Serve – is Negatively and Substantially Affected. The Court of Appeals Decision Warrants Review by This Court Because the Decision Undermines the Protection to Which Intended Beneficiaries are Entitled Under This Court's Decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(4).
  - 1. Carl Gay Did Not Know the Estate Tax Consequences of the Estate Plan he Recommended for his Client, Mrs. Evelyn Plant.

It is undisputed that the purpose for which Mrs. Plant retained Carl Gay as her lawyer was to provide for the effective transfer of her property upon her death. Certainly avoiding estate taxes, to the extent legally possible, can be presumed as another purpose for which Mrs. Plant retained Carl Gay to prepare her estate planning documents. Carl Gay failed to serve either of these purposes for his client.

Carl Gay declares himself as a lawyer practicing over 30 years and as being exceptionally experienced in the field of estate planning, "including the preparation of wills, trusts and other estate planning documents as well as creation of non-profit entities for a wide variety of clients." (CP 266-267). Certainly Washington lawyers with such experience should be expected to know and understand the estate tax consequences of burdening a gift of real

property to a charitable corporation with a life estate. Gay's incompetence and breach of his duty to provide competent advice to Mrs. Plant began with the Original Trust and carried through to the Amended Trust.

There is every reason to impose this same duty upon Carl Gay to the intended beneficiaries of the estate plan and Trust he created for Mrs. Plant, precisely to avoid future harm of the sort suffered by Linth. Moreover, there can be no undue burden on the legal profession by requiring that members of the State Bar Association comply with standards of competency and standards of professional conduct. Supreme Court review is necessary to uphold the integrity of the WSBA for its members and for the public that they serve.

> 2. The Court of Appeals Was So Concerned About Protecting an Attorney's Duty of Loyalty to Their Client That It Lost Sight of the Fact That the Point in the Representation at Which Gay Erred, Presented No Risk and No Conflict With That Duty.

The Decision relies upon *Parks v. Fink*, 173 Wn. App. 366, 293 P.3d 1275 (2013), to hold that, prior to his client's death, Gay did not owe a duty to Linth because to do so would impose a risk of interfering with Gay's duty of undivided loyalty to his client, Mrs. Plant. But there is no issue of Linth attempting to interfere with Gay's duty of loyalty to Mrs. Plant. The "critical duty issue" in *Parks* was "whether a duty is owed to an intended beneficiary where the attorney fails to ensure the decedent executes the will promptly."

The *Parks* court found that imposing such a duty on the legal profession would create a conflict of interest between the attorney representing the testator and the hopeful beneficiary who had not yet been established as a beneficiary.

In finding a conflict of interest, the Decision incorrectly assumes, "[h]ere, as in *Parks*, the Trust documents were not properly executed before Plant's death." (Decision at p. 8).<sup>8</sup> On the contrary; both the Original Trust and the Amendment were fully executed by Mrs. Plant. After she signed and her signature was notarized, there was nothing more required from Mrs. Plant.

The "critical duty issues" in the present case are markedly different than the one in *Parks*, thereby making the facts and holding from *Parks* inapplicable here. Here, the "critical duty issues" are:

1.

Whether an attorney who holds himself out as an experienced trusts and estates lawyer and who drafts an Amendment to a Trust document that references an Attachment "as though set forth in full," owes a duty to his client to advise her that the Amendment will not be valid and enforceable until such time as the Attachment is completed and attached, or, to advise the client not to fully execute the Amendment until such time as the Attachment is complete and ready to attach in order to avoid any dispute between the original Trust and the Amendment to the Trust?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> It may seem obvious, but in this context, "properly execute" means to sign and have that signature notarized.

Whether an attorney who holds himself out as an experienced trusts and estates lawyer, owes a duty to his client, who has retained him for advice and counseling on estate planning and for drafting documentation to create a Trust, to know and understand estate tax laws and to advise that client about the estate tax consequences of the client's planned Trust?

Whether an attorney who has a concurrent conflict of interest as defined by RPC 1.7 has a duty to withdraw or to obtain a waiver from both sides of the concurrent conflict?

No compelling argument can be made that the legal profession will be unduly burdened by imposing any of these duties on an attorney, especially one who holds himself out as being an experienced trusts and estates lawyer.

The Decision fails to recognize the distinction from *Parks*: here, it was the Trust document itself that was defective – *not* the Testator's failure to property execute it. Unlike in *Parks*, the Trust document here was defective in more ways than one due to Carl Gay's incompetence. It was Carl Gay's responsibility to ensure that the Trust document was not defective. Extending Carl Gay's duty to the intended beneficiaries of Mrs. Plant's estate in this case would not create a conflict of interest between Carl Gay and his dient, Mrs. Plant. Supreme Court review is warranted to clarify this distinction. 3. The Decision Incorrectly Focuses on the Duty of Care Owed by Carl Gay as Attorney for the Trustee, Dan Doran, Instead of the Duty of Care Owed by Carl Gay as Attorney for the Trustor, Mrs. Plant.

The Decision asserts that Cary's duty to Dan Doran as the Trustee did not include a duty to Linth, a non-client beneficiary. (Decision at pp. 10-11). But Jennifer Linth did not bring this action against Carl Gay, in his role as the attorney for the Trustee. Jennifer Linth brought this action against Carl Gay in his role as the attorney for Mrs. Plant.

In its' holding, the Decision relies upon *Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d 835, 845, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994),<sup>9</sup> which held that there is no duty "owed from an attorney hired by the personal representative of an estate to the estate or to the estate beneficiaries." The Decision lost sight of the primary consideration learned from *Trask* and its progeny: it is the factual circumstances of each case that are critical to each decision and underscore the fact-specific analysis that is required of a court under the multi-factor balancing test. *See*, *Parks v. Fink*, 173 Wn. App. 366, 377 n.9, 293 P.3d 1275 (2013) (citations omitted).

With the particular facts of *Trask* in mind, the Supreme Court gave three reasons for its holding, **none** of which apply to this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Ironically, the Decision never analyzes the multi-factor balancing test for which the *Trask v. Butler* decision is known.

First, the estate and its beneficiaries in *Trask* were incidental, not intended, beneficiaries of the attorney-personal representative relationship. Here, it is undisputed that Linth was one of the *intended* beneficiaries of the relationship between Carl Gay and Mrs. Plant. Again, it is Carl Gay's duty to Mrs. Plant that is at issue here, not Carl Gay's duty to Dan Doran, the Trustee.

Second, the estate heirs in *Trask* could bring a direct cause of action against the personal representative for breach of fiduciary duty. Linth has brought a direct action against the Trustee, Dan Doran, for breach of fiduciary duty. That claim remains in this lawsuit but, unlike the facts of the *Trask* case, the direct action against the Trustee has no value since the corpus of the Trust has been depleted due to the negligence of the attorney that created the Trust. Moreover, the Trustee, Mr. Doran, has died.

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