RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 19, 2015, 3:48 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

Supreme Court No. 92419-8

RECEIVED

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 45250-2-II

\_\_\_\_

# COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

# JENNIFER LINTH AND THE ESTATE OF CAROLYN LINTH; THE EVELYN PLANT TRUST, AND THE FRANKLIN AND EVELYN PLANT GREEN POINT FOUNDATION,

Appellants.

v.

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

#### **IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED**

# A. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Consistent with Washington Caselaw.

# 1. Mr. Gay Did Not Owe a Duty to the Appellants as Third Party Beneficiaries in Drafting His Client's Trust.

The Court of Appeals' Decision is divided into two (2) time periods: the appellants' allegations of negligence *before* Mrs. Plant's death, and the appellants' allegations of negligence *after* Mrs. Plant's death. With respect to the trial court's and the Court of Appeals' determinations that Mr. Gay did not owe a duty of care to the appellants as beneficiaries of the Trust during the drafting and completion of estate planning documents, those courts relied upon the *Parks* decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I. The appellants' Petition attempts to distinguish the facts in this case from those in the *Parks* matter. However, their attempt fails.

In *Parks*, attorney Finks was retained by his client, Balko, to prepare an amendment to Balko's will. Accordingly, there was an existing will to which changes were to be made regarding the disposition of property. *Parks*, 173 Wn. App. at 367. A draft of the will was presented to Balko and Balko signed it, but he failed to do so in the presence of witnesses, and this fact, as well as the consequent non-enforceability of the signed instrument, was known to attorney Finks. *Id.* at 369-70. As such, there were now intended and known beneficiaries named in the new, improperly executed, will. Over one year passed yet during that interval, attorney Finks failed to have the newer will draft formally executed. *Id.* 

Upon Balko's death, a beneficiary, Mr. Parks, was deprived of the benefits he would have received from Balko's estate had the subject will amendment been properly and timely executed. *Id.* at 371-72. Parks brought a malpractice claim against attorney Finks, contending that Finks owed a duty to him, a non-client beneficiary of the estate of Balko. *Id.* at 373.

In the instant case, as in *Parks*, the Trust documents were not properly executed before Mrs. Plant's death. Therefore, the Court of Appeals held that *Parks* controls the instant case because the circumstances parallel the *Parks* matter and Mr. Gay did not owe a duty to the non-client third party appellants. (Decision at 8).

In their petition, the appellants attempt once again to manufacture a distinction between *Parks* and this matter by stating that Mrs. Plant properly executed the Trust whereas in *Parks*, Balko did not properly execute the will. Despite the appellants' belief that Mrs. Plant's trust was properly executed, that cannot be said to be true. Mrs. Plant did, admittedly, sign a draft of the Trust Amendment without the knowledge of Mr. Gay. However, when she signed the Trust Amendment, the referenced Attachment was not included nor was it even drafted. An Amendment to a Trust cannot be said to be "properly executed" when the document is not complete. Indeed, it was not properly executed, as the Court of Appeals below so found. (Decision at 8). In addition, Mrs. Plant did not sign the Trust Amendment in front of a notary. (CP at 598). She signed it at home and Doran, the successor trustee, took the signed Amendment to the bank where he used to work and had her signature later notarized there.<sup>1</sup> (*Id.*) Thus, this matter is on point with *Parks* as the Court of Appeals found.

In following the *Parks* decision, the Court of Appeals focused on *two* of the *Trask* factors: (5) the policy of preventing future harm, and (6) the extent to which the profession would be unduly burdened by a finding of liability. The appellants also claim that the Court of Appeals erred because they lost sight of the point in the representation in which the alleged negligence occurred and on that basis they attempt to distinguish the *Parks* decision once again.

The appellants advance the novel argument that when Mr. Gay was representing Mrs. Plant, the appellants' interests were "aligned" with Mrs. Plant and, thus, there was no conflict for Mr. Gay. This basic misunderstanding of the distinction between parties and their relationships with one parties' attorney highlights the problem with appellants' Petition. Importantly, the *Parks* decision addresses the question whether a duty is owed to a third party. The *Parks* court found that imposing upon a lawyer

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The appellants make the additional claim in their petition that after she signed the Amendment and her signature was later notarized "there was nothing more required from Mrs. Plant". However, there was certainly more required from Mrs. Plant. Specifically, she had to review and approve the foundation plan to be incorporated in the attachment to her signed Amendment, which had never been completed, and which is also the crux of the dispute with the appellants. The Attachment was supposed to be her vision for the Foundation that she was to establish. She was certainly supposed to do more after she signed the document.

a liability to a third party beneficiary resulting from the lawyer's failure to fully complete a client's estate plan could diminish "the attorney's duty of loyalty to the client and impose an untenable burden on the attorney-client relationship." *Parks* at 388-89. Therefore, the court found that "the risk of interfering with the attorney's duty of undivided loyalty to the client exceeds the risk of harm to the prospective beneficiary." *Id.* at 388-89.

Whereas a testator and the beneficiary of a will have a mutual interest in ensuring that an attorney drafts the will non-negligently, a prospective beneficiary may be interested in the will's prompt execution, while the testator or testatrix may be interested in having sufficient time to consider and understand his or her estate planning options.

Id. at 384 (quoting Sisson v. Jankowski, 148 N.H. 503, 509, 809 A.2d 1265 (2002)).

The appellants attempt, again, to make a distinction between a prospective beneficiary and an actual beneficiary. The Court of Appeals addressed this and noted that the appellants cited no authority to support the distinction between prospective and actual beneficiaries and therefore did not consider this argument. (Decision at 8). In the Petition for Review, the appellants have still not cited any authority that the distinction between prospective beneficiary and actual beneficiary is consequential, even if the appellants were assumed to be actual beneficiaries. Thus, this Court should not consider their argument. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992); RAP 10.3(a)(6).

Even if the appellants' claimed distinction was evaluated, there is simply no evidence before the Court to determine that the appellants were any more of an actual beneficiary than Mr. Parks. For example, the appellants claim that their inheritance failed because the Trust Amendment failed. Therefore, how can it be said that they were actual beneficiaries of the Trust Amendment any more than Mr. Parks was an actual beneficiary of Mr. Balko's will. The effect of the testamentary documents' failing was the same regardless of whether or not the appellants were labeled prospective or actual beneficiaries. In addition, because Mrs. Plant's Trust was an inter-vivos trust, Ms. Linth's interest in the Trust and the Amendment to the Trust was also prospective; it could have been revoked or altered at any time by Mrs. Plant.

# 2. The Appellants, as Third Party Beneficiaries, Were Not Owed Any Duty from Mr. Gay as the Attorney For The Trustee or Trustor.

The Court of Appeals, relying on *Trask*, also determined that Mr. Gay did not owe the appellants a duty after Mrs. Plant's death, while he was the attorney for the Trustee, Mr. Doran. Specifically, the Court cited to the fact that when alternative avenues of recourse are available to the beneficiaries, Washington Courts do not find duties owed by an attorney to a third party beneficiary. (Decision at 10). Indeed, here the appellants, as admitted in their Petition, have other available avenues of recourse, including bringing an action against the Personal Representative/Trustee Dan Doran, which they have done. Thus they can hold Mr. Doran, the individual responsible for Mrs. Plant's estate decision-making, accountable for decisions they believe were not in their best interests as beneficiaries. In addition, the appellants utilized legal remedies during the administration of Mrs. Plant's Estate by hiring attorneys to represent their interests as third party beneficiaries and actively participated in negotiations for settlement of the Estate, culminating in the NDRA, and from which agreement they have continued to benefit.

Overall, the appellants have utilized other forms of recourse to protect their interests in Mrs. Plant's Trust: a lawsuit involving the Trustee Mr. Doran and negotiation of their interest in the estate which was settled in 2005 through the NDRA.

Returning to consideration of the existence of a duty owed by Mr. Gay to the appellants, the Court of Appeals noted the appellants have failed to cite to any relevant authority to even suggest that Mr. Gay owed them a duty. While the appellants indicate that the Court of Appeals decision below incorrectly focused on Mr. Gay's duty to Doran and not Mr. Gay's duty to Mrs. Plant, they again have provided no authority that such a distinction is relevant or makes any difference. Furthermore, Mr. Doran would be the individual to pursue a claim on behalf of Ms. Linth because he was the Personal Representative, not third party-beneficiaries with ulterior motives and an inherent conflict with Mrs. Plant.

## B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict With Any Other Appellate Decision in Washington

Washington Courts have consistently held that attorneys do not owe a duty to a non-client beneficiary except under unique circumstances which are not applicable here. However, the appellants represent that *Moen v. Driscoll*, 122 Wn. App. 1038, 2004 WL 1658976 (Wn. App. Div. 1 2004) (hereinafter "*Moen*"), an unpublished Division I decision, creates a conflict among the Court of Appeals because it holds that attorneys owe a duty to non-client beneficiaries of a will which has been properly executed by the client/testator, but which fails due solely to the attorney's breach of duty to his client. Even if the appellants were allowed to cite to and rely upon a non-published opinion such as *Moen*, that case does not hold what the appellants represent nor are the facts similar enough to create an alleged "conflict" among Divisions of the Court of Appeals.

As the Court is aware, *Moen* is an unpublished Court of Appeals Decision which holds no precedential value. In the *Condon* matter, an appellant cited an unpublished Washington State Court of Appeals Decision in her motion for discretionary review in violation of GR 14.1. Condon v. Condon, 177 Wn.2d 150, 165, 298 P.3d 86 (2013). This Court "strongly disapproved" of the appellant's citation there and cited the Woodall Decision, which states that "[u]npublished opinions have no precedential value and should not be cited or relied upon in **any manner**." Id. at 166 citing Skamania County v. Woodall, 104 Wn. App. 525, 536 n. 11, 16 P.3d 701 (2001) (emphasis added). This Court in Condon did not consider the unpublished cases cited by the appellant. Id.

Here, the appellants cite to the *Moen* opinion in their Petition in an attempt to show a conflict, which, upon careful review, does not exist. In a footnote, the appellants state that RAP 13.4(b)(2) does not require a conflicting decision to be published. However, an opinion which is unpublished cannot be said to be in conflict with a published opinion because the unpublished decision holds no precedential value and cannot be relied upon in Washington State Courts. Supra *Woodall*, at 536 n. 11. Therefore, this Court should not consider the *Moen* case because it is an unpublished decision which should not be relied upon in any matter.

If this Court elects to consider *Moen*, it is clear that *Moen* does not stand for the proposition which the appellants assert. In *Moen*, Mary Bracelin hired an attorney, James Driscoll, to draft a living trust. *Moen*, 2004 WL 1658976 at 1. Unfortunately, Ms. Bracelin passed away before

she was able to fully execute the trust because she had not completed an "Attachment" which itemized the assets used to fund her trust, even though the trust was signed. Id. at 3. After her death, one of her daughters, Ms. Steel, who was also a beneficiary to Ms. Bracelin's trust, became the Personal Representative. Id. However, Ms. Steel resigned and the court appointed attorney Bruce Moen as the Personal Representative. Id. After Ms. Bracelin's death, Mr. Moen, as the Personal Representative of Ms. Bracelin's Estate, filed a lawsuit against Mr. Driscoll for professional negligence for his alleged negligence in drafting the estate plan documents for Ms. Bracelin. Id. Later joining in the lawsuit against Mr. Driscoll were certain third party beneficiaries to Ms. Bracelin's trust. Id. Indeed, a court commissioner determined that it was Mr. Moen who was authorized to file the lawsuit to file the malpractice claim. Id. at n. 3. While the record on appeal was unclear, the parties indicated that the trial court granted summary judgment on Mr. Driscoll's argument that the Deadman's Statute (RCW 5.60.030) prevented the admission of the plaintiff's necessary evidence. Id. at n. 2.

In reversing the trial court, the Court of Appeals held that there were genuine issues of material fact as to causation of the plaintiffs' damages and that the Deadman's Statute did not bar necessary evidence which created a genuine issue of material fact. *Id.* at 4, 6.

The issue whether an attorney owed a duty to third party beneficiaries was not before the *Moen* court. Aside from the problem of citing to unpublished authority, appellants fail to connect the *Moen* facts to the issues in the present case.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The trial court and the Court of Appeals ruled correctly: Mr. Gay did not, and could not, owe the appellants a legal duty in this matter. These decisions are consistent with Washington State law and policy. The Court of Appeals' opinion is not in conflict with any appellate decision. In fact, it is consistent with all prior Washington appellate opinions when addressing the issues presented in the instant case. Given the foregoing arguments and the record below, it is clear that this matter does not rise to the level of review for this Court. Mr. Gay respectfully requests that appellants' Petition for Review be denied.